IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

LENNARD L. JENKINS ,) Petitioner,) Vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Respondent.) Hereitioner,) Sth DCA Case No. 5D 99-341

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0410519 112 Orange Ave., Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In November of 1997, the Petitioner snatched a purse from the possession of a woman pedestrian, Frances Moccia, by reaching out from the window of a passing car and grabbing the strap of the purse (R 41).¹ The car was being driven by the Petitioner's girlfriend, Lynn Haydon (TR 62). It was proceeding slowly past the woman in a parking lot when the defendant grabbed the purse (TR 33). The car nudged the woman's hip as it passed, but the impact did not knock her down and caused no permanent injury to her hip (TR 33, 48). When Ms. Moccia felt the strap

¹References to the record of documents filed with the Clerk of Court are cited herein as (R); those to the transcript of the trial as (TR); those to the supplement to the trial transcript as (TRS); those to the transcript of the jury selection as (JS); those to the transcript of the hearing on the motion for JOA and new trial as (HT), and those to the transcript of the sentencing hearing as (ST).

of her purse being tugged, she immediately grabbed the bulk of the pocketbook with her left arm to hold it close to her (TR 33). The automobile was moving forward and the purse kept getting tugged ahead. Ms. Moccia had the purse close to her body and was pulling the strap, trying to hold onto the strap at the same time (TR 34). The car began to accelerate and Ms. Moccia was still holding on and clinging to the purse. As the car accelerated, Ms. Moccia started to lose ground and fell down. She was dragged along the asphalt and the strap broke (TR 34). The fall caused contusions to the woman's knees and elbows, and the fracture of a bone in the woman's upper arm (TR 36).

The Petitioner's girlfriend then drove the car off, but it was stopped by the police and the Petitioner was arrested. The State filed an Information charging the Petitioner with one count of principal to armed robbery with a weapon, to wit: a motor vehicle; a second count of principal to aggravated battery by great bodily harm; and a third count of principal to aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, to wit: a motor vehicle (R 50, 51).

Motions for Judgment of Acquittal were made on the ground that the car did not legally qualify as a weapon under the facts of the case and there was no intent to inflict injury (R 82-86, TR 84-100, 129-131). The position taken by the State in opposition to the Petitioner's motions was to argue that the Petitioner had intentionally used the forward impetus of the car to assist in pulling the victim off her feet during the actual purse snatch itself, thus using the car as a weapon (TR 88-90).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all counts. A post-verdict Motion for Judgment of Acquittal and new trial was filed, (R 82-86), and denied after being argued to the court at a post-trial hearing (R 140, MT 1-15)

A sentence of two concurrent 20-year sentences: one for the armed-robbery, and one for the principal to aggravated battery count was imposed on February 3, 1999 (R 38). A Notice of Appeal was filed on February 4, 1999 (R 155), and the case was appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The sole issue on appeal was whether, as a question of law, the automobile was used as a weapon under the provisions of section 812.13(2)(b), Florida Statues, in order to enhance the robbery to robbery with a weapon.

On December 3, 1999, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court, finding that the evidence was sufficient for a jury to find that the automobile was used as a weapon because the defendant used the vehicle to bump the victim, then reached through the window and grabbed the victim's purse, thereby yanking the victim to the ground and dragging her along the pavement until she relinquished her hold on the purse. Jenkins v. State, 747 So.2d 997 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). Judge

Harris dissented with an opinion.

A Motion for Rehearing/Motion for Rehearing En Banc was filed on December 14, 1999, and denied on January 14, 2000. The co-defendant, Haydon, was tried separately, and the jury in that case found the automobile was not used as a weapon. <u>Haydon v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Judge Harris wrote a special concurring opinion in <u>Haydon</u>.

Petitioner requested that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction. This Court accepted jurisdiction on July 25, 2000, and set oral argument for January 4, 2001.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point 1: Whether the automobile in Petitioner's case was a weapon under Section 812.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes, is a question of law to be determined by the court. There was no evidence the automobile was anything more than incidental to the purse snatching. The automobile was not used for the purpose of injuring or intimidating the victim to give up her purse. In this case, the automobile was not a "weapon" under the robbery statute.

ARGUMENT

THE AUTOMOBILE DRIVEN BY PETITIONER'S CO-DEFENDANT WAS NOT LEGALLY A WEAPON UNDER THE ROBBERY STATUTE.

The defense moved for a Judgment of Acquittal on the ground that the evidence had not shown that the car in which the Petitioner was riding during the purse snatch was a weapon or was used as a weapon (R 82-85, TR 85-86, HT 5-9). The issue of whether the car was properly to be considered as a weapon under the facts of this case is central. If the car was not a weapon, or used as a weapon, the Petitioner cannot legally be held responsible for armed robbery. Section 812.13(b), Florida Statutes, the armed-robbery statute, requires that the defendant carry² a weapon in the course of the robbery in order for the standard robbery sanctions to be enhanced to a first-degree felony.

A car is not designed as a weapon, therefore its legal status as a weapon must necessarily depend on what use was made of it. <u>Solitro v. State</u>, 165 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964).

Here, the evidence at trial clearly showed that the car was pulled up next to the victim, and the Petitioner reached out the window and snatched her purse. The

² "Carry" in this instance can also mean use of a car. <u>Nation v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

car brushed against the victim's hip in passing, but did not injure the hip, and did not knock the victim down, or even push her far enough away to be out of reach of the Petitioner when he reached out to snatch the purse (TR 33, 34, 48). If the car had been consciously used as a weapon, harm would certainly have ensued from its use at this point. Striking the victim with an automobile is one of the instances in which automobiles, have been legitimately held to be weapons. <u>Nation v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

In the instant case, the evidence is clear that the Petitioner, who was not even driving the car, did not set out to injure the victim by use of the car. Further, no serious harm involving permanency was attributable to the way in which the car was used, the nudge on the hip not having produced any lasting injury (TR 48). Instead, harm resulted from the victim holding onto her purse, which pulled the woman from her feet and resulted in injuries sustained when she hit the pavement. Rather than to say the <u>car</u> was the weapon involved, one could more accurately say that the <u>pavement</u> was the weapon. The car inflicted no serious or permanent injury. The pavement did.

In <u>Houck v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the Fifth District Court of Appeal considered a case in which death had ensued from the hitting of the victim's head against pavement, and the State charged the pavement as a weapon.

7

The defense moved for a Judgment of Acquittal on the ground that the pavement should not be considered a weapon. In concluding that the Judgment of Acquittal should have been granted, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that letting such an issue go to the jury was error, since the issue of what constituted a weapon was one to be decided by the judge as a matter of law. The district court further held that use of pavement did not constitute use of a weapon for purposes of the enhancement statute because the pavement, as employed in that case, was not a weapon with any meaningful sense of that word. This Court upheld the reasoning of the district court quoting Judge Cobb's opinion as follows:

> Here, the underlying fallacy of the State's argument is that it misconceives the legislative intent underlying the reclassification statute. The obvious legislative intent reflected by Section 775.087 is to provide harsher punishment for, and hopefully deter, those persons who use instruments to inflict death and serious bodily injury upon other persons.

State v. Houck, 652 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1995) (Quoting the wording of the 5th DCA in Houck v. State, 634 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)).

The Petitioner under the facts in the instant case was not in any sense to be considered as "carrying" an instrument commonly recognized as having the purpose to inflict death and serious bodily injury on other persons. The car was designed as a conveyance, and was being used as one. There is no realistic content in the facts of this case to suggest that the Petitioner intentionally set out to injure the victim with the car, or even foresaw that such injury would take place. In determining whether an object is a "weapon" under the robbery statute, courts apply an objective test which examines whether the object's nature or manner or use was likely to cause great bodily harm. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 651 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

In <u>Williams</u>, the court reversed a conviction for robbery with a weapon and remanded for imposition of simple robbery, finding hot coffee was not used in a manner that it could have resulted in death or great bodily harm. This court cited <u>Bates v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) and <u>D.C. v. State</u>, 567 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). In <u>Bates</u>, the court determined that a nut driver was not a deadly weapon because of the manner in which the defendant employed the nut driver. In <u>D.C.</u>, the state failed to present evidence that spraying deodorant on a person's body at close range was likely to cause death or great bodily harm even if te person suffered harm and received medical treatment.

<u>Bates</u> and <u>D.C.</u> were cited in a footnote together with five other examples in the case of <u>J.A. v. State</u>, 697 So.2d 969 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997). J.A. was charged with aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. When a teacher asked J.A. to sit down, he picked up a stool and started coming at the teacher after saying "bitch ...

don't start with me". The district court concluded that the evidence was insufficient to show the stool was used as a deadly weapon and reduced the charge to simple assault. See also, Blanco v. State, 679 So.2d 792 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (evidence that defendant pressed a soda bottle against cashier's back to simulate a firearm insufficient to sustain armed robbery conviction); Forchion v. State, 214 So.2d 751 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968) (evidence that defendant threw two foot long part of broom handle at victim from a distance of twelve to fifteen feet is insufficient to sustain conviction for aggravated assault); Rogan v. State, 203 So.2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967) (evidence defendant threw a one-foot diameter flower pot into residence insufficient to classify flower pot as deadly weapon for aggravated assault on person seated five feet from window); Robinson v. State, 547 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), (razor blade which had been charged by the State as a concealed weapon should be taken legally as the common household item it was construed to be, and not construed to be a weapon unless it was used in a threatening manner); Smith v. State, 617 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)(unloaded gun is not a concealed firearm because, being unloaded, it was not readily available for immediate use as required by statute). Being in a car while committing a crime should not convert the crime into an armed-robbery offense simply because the car facilitated the robbery in some way.

In <u>Houck</u>, this court quoted the district court's opinion that:

The failure of the statute to broadly define the term "weapon" cannot be cured by jury speculation. As Houck contends, the panel opinion would open a veritable "Pandora's Box" and allow a creative prosecutor, in conjunction with the jury, to turn almost any intentional injury into one caused by a weapon. For example, would the ground be transformed into a weapon merely because it was the point of impact for a person pushed from a cliff or high building? Would the water become a weapon if the victim was pushed overboard from an ocean liner?

State v. Houck, 652 So.2d at 360. The end result of the jury being allowed to speculate on whether the car was a weapon was that the jury in Petitioner's case found that it was a weapon and in the driver's case that it was not. Haydon v. State, 755 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Surely the legislative intent was not to punish more severely a person who had no control over the vehicle. As Judge Harris points out in his dissent, the initial bump by the vehicle did not cause injury. The vehicle was incidental to the purse snatch, and the legislature did not intend an unplanned and unintended act to become an enhancer. As Judge Harris pointed out in his concurring opinion in Haydon, the legislature has enacted a purse snatching statute, Section 812.131, Florida Statutes (1999) for which snatching with a deadly weapon is only a second degree felony. It can hardly be accepted that a car was necessary to complete the crime of robbery in this case. Petitioner could have

achieved the same criminal result by simply grabbing the purse and running off on foot, on bicycle, or roller skates, toppling and injuring the victim in that fashion. In this case, it is clear that the car was not intended to be a weapon, and the facts clearly show that it did not so function. The fair interpretation of the facts is that the car was being used as nothing more that a means of conveyance to carry someone to and from a strong-arm robbery.

In the instant case, the State is asking that an automobile which actually functioned in the crime is nothing more than a means of conveyance should be accepted as a weapon. Petitioner acknowledges Jackson v. State, 662 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), which held that an automobile may be "carried" as a deadly weapon under Section 812.13(2)(a). However, Jackson was decided as a matter of law under the facts of that case which showed the defendant used the automobile to run down the victim, after which the victim's wallet was taken as he lay at the side of the road, seriously injured. Jackson v. State, 662 So.2d at 1371. Further, as Petitioner argued below, this is a question of law for the trial judge. Jackson was decided as a matter of law. The holding was narrowly limited to the facts in which a motor vehicle "is actually used as a deadly weapon to run down the victim". Jackson, 662 So. 2d at 1372. This court recently receded from the hard-line rule of Ensor v. State, 402 So. 2d 349 (Fla.1981), which indicated that whether a weapon

is concealed is always a question of fact for the jury. <u>Dorelus v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 368 (Fla. 1999). In <u>Dorelus</u>, the court held that whether a partially-concealed weapon is a concealed weapon under the undisputed fact that the officer was able to see the silver butt of the gun sticking out of the console, was a matter of law which the trial court properly decided. In the present case, the facts are undisputed. The automobile was not used a weapon to run down the victim and take her money, as in <u>Jackson</u>. The automobile was incidental to the robbery and used only to convey the perpetrators to and from the crime scene. The district court's analysis in this case would open the Pandora's box this court cautioned against in <u>Houck</u> and convert every simple robbery in which an automobile is used to a first degree felony.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, and the authorities cited therein, Petitioner respectfully requests that the Florida Supreme Court reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, reverse the conviction for armed robbery, and remand for imposition of conviction for simple robbery.