IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LENNARD LAPOINT JENKINS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC00-310 DCA case no.: 5D99-341

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #618550

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990/FAX 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

In addition to the facts provided by the Petitioner, the State offers the following relevant information (all of which is specifically set out in the majority opinion of the district court):

1. The victim testified that after being hit by the car:

The car began to accelerate and I was still with my right hand trying to hold the strap (of her purse) that I was clinging to. As the car accelerated, I started to lose ground, and that's when I went down. I fell. I was dragged along the asphalt....

(TR 34). When asked how far she was dragged, the victim responded

I don't honestly remember how long I was being dragged, but it seemed like forever at the time. But once I felt the actual burning and ripping of my skin, I just gave up.

(TR 36).

2. The majority opinion also noted in response to the defense's argument that the car was simply a conveyance and was not used as a weapon:

The notion that the evidence at trial does no more than show that the vehicle was used as transportation to and from the site of the purse snatching ignores the victim's description of the events. At the very least, it is a jury question whether the automobile was used as a weapon.

Jenkins v. State, 747 So. 2d 997, 998 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The type size and style used in this brief is 12 point Courier New.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fact that a robbery was committed by the Petitioner in this case is undisputed. The only issue is whether there was sufficient evidence as to the use of the motor vehicle to submit the charged offense to the jury. It is the State's position that the trial court determination to deny the defense's motion for judgment of acquittal should be affirmed by this Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT OF LAW

WHETHER THE AUTOMOBILE IN THIS CASE WAS PROPERLY FOUND TO HAVE BEEN USED AS A WEAPON BY THE JURY. (restated).

The Petitioner's position is that the automobile in this case was not used as a weapon. The State respectfully disagrees.

The first issue the State will address is that of jurisdiction. While this Court has accepted jurisdiction in this case, it is still the position of the State that such was done improvidently. In <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357-1358 (Fla. 1980), this Court discussed the creation of the district courts of appeal and quoted from <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts... To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

This Court's jurisdiction should not be invoked for the purpose of seeking a second appellate review. The Petitioner in this case admits that a car can legally be used as a weapon¹ and the issue is

See page six of the Petitioner's Merits Brief where the defense recognized that the car's status as a weapon "...must necessarily depend on what use was made of it."

the dispute of how it was used in this case. Whether the facts support the trial court's denial of the defense's motion for judgment of acquittal and whether the Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly found sufficient evidence to support the trial court are both issues which are not novel and are ones which do not need this Court's review for resolution.

The issue presented to the appellate court by the Petitioner was whether the trial court erred by failing to grant the defense's motion for judgment of acquittal. Consistent with case law from this Court and all the other district courts, the majority's decision found that there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict. The evidence showed that the moving car hit the victim, the car accelerated away when she resisted the robbery, and the car dragged her down and across the asphalt. The moving car hitting her and dragging her increased her fear and her injuries, and the evidence clearly showed that it was used as a weapon to assist the Petitioner in his robbery.

As the Fifth District Court of Appeal specifically noted in its opinion:

According to Jenkins: 'The central issue on appeal, is whether, in the specific circumstances of this case, the car was to be classed as a weapon...'

Jenkins, at 998, (emphasis added).

Lastly, as pointed out in the State's jurisdictional brief, the alleged conflict in this case is with the case of <u>Houck v.</u> <u>State</u>, 652 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1995); however, <u>Houck</u> was not even

cited by the majority opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

As to the merits of the issue, the robbery in this case led to a high speed chase, and the two defendants were caught with the victim's purse. (TR 52-53, 64). Numerous people saw the entire robbery, and the defendants at the time of arrest even admitted that they were trying to steal money in order to buy some crack cocaine. (TR 65, 80). The only disputed issue is how the car was used.

It appears clear that a car **can** be used as a deadly weapon. <u>See</u>, <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), <u>Solitro</u> <u>v. State</u>, 165 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964). In fact, as already pointed out, the Petitioner does not dispute this; instead, the Petitioner's assertion is that while a motor vehicle may be used as a weapon the facts of this case only show that the car was used as a conveyance.

To support this argument, the defense attempts to rely upon the previously cited case of <u>Houck</u>. In <u>Houck</u>, this Court approved the holding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal that the issue of whether a paved surface was a weapon was to be decided by the trial court as a matter of law. <u>See</u>, <u>Houck v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). The analysis of this Court included a review of the definition of weapon as found in the dictionary. This Court noted that a weapon was an "instrument of attack..." or "a means used to ... defeat another." <u>Houck</u>, 652 So. 2d at 360. This Court also made reference to pavement as being a "passive object". <u>Id</u>. The

Fifth District Court's opinion referred to pavement as "an immovable structure that is incapable of being personally possessed, handled, or wielded in the manner of a dirk (knife), club or chemical device." <u>Houck</u>, 634 So. 2d at 182.

Obviously, a car is capable of being owned and possessed. Furthermore, it is definitely not a "passive object", and it is quite capable of moving and being used as a means to attack another. An example of how it can be so used can be found by simply reviewing the facts of this case.

The victim in this case testified that the Petitioner's car accelerated into her hip and upon the defense's attempt on crossexamination to downplay the contact with the car as only a "bump" she responded "I wasn't just bumped, I was hit." (TR 33, 48). After the car hit her, the victim continued

> The car began to accelerate and I was still with my right hand trying to hold the strap (of her purse) that I was clinging to. As the car accelerated, I started to lose ground, and that's when I went down. I fell. I was dragged along the asphalt....

(TR 34). When asked how far she was dragged, the victim responded

I don't honestly remember how long I was being dragged, but it seemed like forever at the time. But once I felt the actual burning and ripping of my skin, I just gave up.

(TR 36). This crime left the victim with a fractured shoulder and permanent scarring which led to numerous physical therapy sessions. (TR 36, 47).

As the Fifth District Court recognized in its opinion in this case these facts "at the very least" created a jury question as to whether the car was used as a weapon. <u>Jenkins</u>, 747 So. 2d at 998. The defense at trial had moved for a judgment of acquittal, the trial court determined that there was sufficient evidence to submit the issue to the jury, and the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed.

When moving for a judgment of acquittal (JOA), a defendant admits the facts adduced at trial as well as every conclusion which may be inferred from the evidence which is favorable to the State. <u>State v. Law</u>, 559 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989), <u>Lynch v. State</u>, 293 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1974). The facts of this case show that a car hit the victim, the Petitioner grabbed her pursed, and she was dragged along the asphalt causing permanent injury.

In addition to the argument that this car was not used as a weapon, the defense submits that the Petitioner was not the driver of the vehicle; however, the principal statute states:

> Whoever commits any criminal offense against the state, whether felony or misdemeanor, or aids, abets, counsels, hires, or otherwise procures such offense to be committed, and such offense is committed or is attempted to be committed, is a principal in the first degree and may be charged, convicted, and punished as such, whether he or she is or is not actually or constructively present at the commission of such offense.

§ 777.011, Fla. Stat. (1997). The purpose of the statute is to make all participants in a crime equally accountable. <u>Harris v.</u> <u>State</u>, 513 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Also, felons are

generally responsible for the actions of their co-felons. Lovette <u>v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1304, 1306 (Fla. 1994). One who participates with another in a common criminal scheme is guilty of all crimes committed in furtherance of that scheme. <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Jacobs v.</u> <u>State</u>, 396 So. 2d 713, 716 (Fla. 1981)). This is so even though the defendant does not physically participate in the act, <u>Id</u>., or know in advance it will be committed, <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 529, 530 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1992). The key is whether the extra criminal act done by the co-felon is in furtherance or prosecution of the initial common criminal design. <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 336 So. 2d 378, 379-380 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 339 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1976).

The facts at trial showed that the two defendants intended to rob the victim, and the facts also showed that they used the car to facilitate the robbery. Clearly, the claim that the Petitioner himself was not driving should not be a defense.

The Petitioner also contends that it was not the Petitioner's intent to use the car to injure the victim. Although the State must prove intent² just as any other element of a crime, a defendant's mental intent is hardly ever subject to direct proof. Instead, the State must establish the defendant's intent (and a jury must reasonably attribute such intent) based on the

Of course intent to injure is not even an element of robbery. <u>See</u>, §812.13, Fla. Stat. (1997). The possible relevance of intent is to the issue of how the car was used by the defendants: as a weapon or as a conveyance.

surrounding circumstances. <u>Brewer v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). A trial court should rarely, if ever, grant a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the state's failure to prove mental intent. <u>Id</u>. As previously noted, these defendants intended to rob the victim, and they used the car to carry out their plan.

Another assertion by the Petitioner is that the vehicle did not increase the degree of injury. The Petitioner alleges that he was simply in the car or that it was used as a conveyance incidental to the robbery. Again, this is a factual issue which was rejected by the jury. The Petitioner did not just use the car to aid his attempted escape after snatching the victim's purse. The car hit the victim, and the car pulled the victim across the pavement. The victim suffered a broken upper arm and other permanent injuries.

The Petitioner submits that the offense and the resulting injuries could have been the same if a defendant had grabbed someone's purse and ran off on foot or rode off on a bicycle. However, such argument would seem to miss the point that in addition to the concern and fear obviously suffered by someone who is hit by a car, the victim in this case was also drug across the parking lot. This dramatically increased the victim's injury. A defendant on foot or on a bike would not be able to drag someone down the road. Remove the power of the motor vehicle in this case from the Petitioner's use, and you remove the victim's injuries. Hit by the car, she fell fracturing her upper arm, and was then

pulled along the pavement by the car.

Clearly, there were sufficient facts so as to submit the issue to the jury. That determination was made by the trial court, and it was affirmed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this Honorable Court affirm the judgments and sentences imposed by the trial court in all respects.